
FROM THE ARCHIVES 
 

 In researching departmental papers and budgets from the past seventy years, one can 
learn a great deal about the music department’s history.  The first records of the music 
department were found from 1908, two years after the founding of Western Kentucky State 
Normal School.  There were two grand pianos, three upright pianos, and an orchestra consisting 
of 6-8 instruments.  Faculty members were W. A. White, Mary Potter, Irene Russell, W. L. 
Gebhardt and Pauline Drake.  In 1909, the curriculum was broadened to include public school 
music certification courses.  In 1911, Franz Strahm, a composer, pianist, violinist and choral 
director, organized the Oratorio Society, which performed such pieces as Hadyn’s Creation, 
Molique’s Abraham, Costa’s Eli, Sullivan’s Light of the World,Planquette’s Chimes of Normandy, 
and Spohr’s The Last Judgment. 
 The Oratorio Society sponsored a Music Festival one year that drew “three to five 
hundred Ward-Belmont girls, . . . a large number of the most prominent musicians of Nashville 
and Louisville, . . . and Frieda Hempel, absolutely recognized as the world’s greatest coloratura 
soprano.”   
 Many of the buildings and titles we musicians use on a daily basis were some of the 
founders and visionaries of the university: 
 Henry Hardin Cherry, WKU President 1906-1937 
   Cherry Hall 
 Captain C. J. Vanmeter, Chancellor Emeritus of Western KY State Normal School 
   Van Meter Auditorium 
 J. Whit Potter, member of the Board of Regents, 1906-1922 
   Potter Hall    

Pleasant J. Potter, established Potter College for Young Ladies in 1890 
Potter College of Arts, Humanities and Social Sciences   

 Ivan F. Wilson 
   Ivan Wilson Fine Arts Center 
 Paul Garrett, WKU President 1937-1955  
   Garrett Auditorium 
 E. A. Diddle, WKU basketball coach 1922-1964  
   Diddle Arena 
 
 In the beginning, there were a few students taking public school music, with one 
teacher.  In the beginning, there was no real chorus or band.  In the beginning the school made 
an effort to have an orchestra that boasted 6-8 players.  In the beginning, the applied music 
department had a teacher of piano and violin and a total equipment of two old grand pianos and 
three uprights. 
 
 The number of faculty varied greatly, with only 2 listed in 1911-12.  In 1914, a course of 
study in guitar and mandolin was added (along with 4 new faculty).  In 1920-21, there were two 
courses of study offered:  Public School Music and the Conservatory of Music.  There were 11 
courses required for the Public School Music study and 8 courses required for the Conservatory of 
Music study.  These courses included music theory, history, harmony, sightsinging, violin voice 
and organ.  New courses offered in 1924 included composition, orchestration, conducting, 
methods, appreciation and solfeggio.  All of the music students met once a week for the study of 
some large choral work that was presented at the annual May Music Festival. 
 In 1939-40, the curriculum was divided into Public School Music, Music Education, 
Theory, Music for General Culture and Applied Music.  On January 18, 1848, Claude Rose started 
the first Music Educators Club at Western.  In 1960, Phi Mu Alpha Sinfonia was formed, and in 
1961, Delta Omicron was formed.   
 



 From The Western Newsician, Christmas 1964 (Vol. IX, No. 1), these memories are 
offered.  The WKU student enrollment was over 6,800, of whom there were approximately 100 
music majors, and three new faculty were welcomed (Virgil Hale, Edward Pease, Betty Pease).  
The Phi Mu Alpha Sinfonia presented “Spotlights On the Hill,” a music variety show with an all 
male cast.  The Marching Band of nearly 100 enjoyed a successful season, including Band Day 
with a thrilling massed band performance.  Other music faculty members were Claude Rose, Ohm 
Pauli, Gertrude Bale, James Godfrey, Howard Carpenter, Ed Knob, Edward Thaden, Bennie 
Beach, and Tom Stone.   
 

In the years 1949 and 1950, Thursdays were days of particular excitement in the 
Western Kentucky University Department of Music.  On those days, one of America’s greatest and 
best known composers made the drive to Bowling Green from Nashville where he was serving on 
the faculty of Peabody College.  He spent each Thursday teaching WKU students the art of 
composition.  His students never knew that he was born in Oklahoma of Scotch-Irish parents, 
was raised on a farm in the San Gabriel Valley of California, played clarinet in the high school 
band, was employed as a farm worker and truck driver, or that he was a close friend of folk 
singers Burl Ives and Woody Guthrie, as well as the American poet, Carl Sandburg.  Included 
among his symphonic works are two that bear the sign of his brief stay in this region:  Kentucky 
Spring, a tone poem premiered by the Louisville Orchestra (1949), and Cumberland Concerto 
(1952).  

An unusual jazz band, Gemini, was started in 1965 when several female music majors 
approach David Livingston and asked about starting an all-girl stage band.  They were sponsored 
for many years after that by the USO Shows and the National Music Council, touring to the 
Caribbean and in the European theatre.  Some memorable performances in 1975 took this 
ensemble to an outdoor performance in Berlin, to a ballpark in Sweibucken, Germany, to 
OUTPOST ALPHA on East Germany border, and to military bases in Puerto Rico, Guantanamo 
Bay, Cuba, Bahama Islands, West Indies, and the Canal Zone.  Featuring jazz, popular and the 
big band era sounds, these ensemble members were enthusiastic ambassadors of goodwill and of 
Western Kentucky University. 
 
           Department Leadership              Terminal Degree 
 

1908 W. A. White, Dean, School of Music       
1910 Franz Strahm, Dean    Royal Conservatory of Music (Germany) 
1935 West Richards, Department Head  Ph. D., Trinity College 
1937 John Vincent, Head    A.M., George Peabody College  
1946 R. R. Willman, Head    Ph.D., Columbia Teachers College 
1947 Weldon Hart, Head    Ph.D., Eastman School of Music 
1950 Hugh Gunderson, Head    M.A., University of Iowa 
1958 Thomas Stone, Head    Ph.D., Florida State University 
1965 Howard Carpenter, Head   Ph.D., University of Rochester 
1975 Wayne Hobbs, Head    Ph.D., Tulane University 
1987 David Lee, Interim Head    Ph.D., Ohio State University 
1989 Charles Smith, Head    D.M.A., George Peabody College  
1991 John Duff, Head     Ph.D., Michigan State University 
2000 Joseph Stites, Interim Head   M.S., University of Illinois 
2001 Mitzi Groom, Head    Ph.D., Florida State University 
 
 
 
 
 
 



WALL OF FAME 
 
Congratulations are in order for the WALL OF FAME recipients.  Since 1997, the Music 
Department has sponsored a special concert to honor alumni and former faculty members during 
the annual Homecoming Concert.  Correspondingly, a framed picture with a biography has been 
hung on the WALL OF FAME for each recipient, located on the third floor of the Ivan Wilson Fine 
Arts Center.  Since its inception, the following honorees have been inducted into the WALL OF 
FAME: 
 1997  Larnelle Harris   ’69 alum 
   Edward Pease   WKU faculty 
 1998  David “Doc” Livingston  ’51 alum/WKU faculty 
   Nelle Gooch Travelstead  ’32 alum/WKU faculty 
   Ohm Pauli   WKU faculty 
 1999  Howard Carpenter  WKU faculty 
   Howard “Zeke” Nicar, Jr. ’55 alum 
   Amy Tate Williams  ’85 alum 
 2000  Kent Campbell   WKU faculty 
   Timothy Simpson  ’84 alum 
   Charles Ball   ’54 alum 
 2001  Bennie Beach   WKU faculty 
 2002  Beegie Adair   ’58 alum 
   Mike Longo   ’59 alum 
 2003  Hazel Carver   ’38 & ’62 alum 
   Joe Allen   ’60 & ’66 alum 
 2004  Greg Colson   ’50 alum 
 2005  Franz Strahm   WKU Dept. Head 
   Sheila Harris Jackson  ’78 alum 

2006 Claude Rose   WKU faculty 
  Doug Van Fleet   ’63 alum 
 
 

 
 
The Western Band takes charge of things at halftime during a Hilltopper  
Football contest – 1942-43 
 
 
 



 
 

The Music Man – BENNIE BEACH 
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